0x 1 56

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,786 Florida Bar No: 184170

SAMUEL FRIEDLAND FAMILY
ENTERPRISES, d/b/a THE
DIPLOMAT HOTEL, INC., DIPLOMAT)
HOTEL, INC., BILL'S SUNRISE
BOAT RENTALS-SUNRISE WATER
SPORTS, INC., SUNRISE WATER
SPORTS, INC., WILLIAM THORLA, )
et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

PAULA AMOROSO and ROBERT AMOROSO, her husband,

Respondents.

FILED

DEC 16 1992

ELERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS
SAMUEL FRIEDLAND FAMILY ENTERPRISES, d/b/a
THE DIPLOMAT HOTEL, INC., DIPLOMAT HOTEL, INC.,
BILL'S SUNRISE BOAT RENTALS-SUNRISE WATER

## INTRODUCTION

The Petitioners/Defendants, Samuel Friedland Family
Enterprises d/b/a the Diplomat Hotel, Inc., a Florida
Corporation, will be referred to as The Diplomat; Sunrise Water,
Inc., a Florida Corporation; Bill's Sunrise Boat Rentals-Sunrise
Water Sports, Inc., A Florida Corporation and William Thoral, as
the last known Director and Officer of Sunrise Water Sports,
Inc., will be referred to in the singular as Sunrise.

The Respondent/Plaintiff, Paula Amoroso, will be referred to by name or as Plaintiff. Robert Amoroso, her husband, will be referred to by name.

The Defendant, Atlantic Sailing Center, Inc., a Florida Corporation, will be referred to as Atlantic Sailing.

The Defendants, Robin Rhodenbaugh, Rhodenbaugh's Sheet Metal Repairs, Inc. and Florida Insurance Guaranty Association, will be referred to collectively in the singular as Rhodenbaugh.

For purposes of continuity and ease of reference the Trial Transcript which appears in the Record at 1 to 758 will be designated by the letter "T" followed by the day of trial and the page number.

All references to the Complaint will be to the Sixth Amended Complaint appearing in the Record at 1376 to 1413.

All emphasis in the Brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

## Overview of Trial

The Plaintiff conceded below that this was simply a negligence case, involving a broken sailboat mast. The Diplomat Hotel rented some beach area to Sunrise, who leased it to Atlantic Sailing, who rented a sailboat to the Plaintiff. The Fourth District held that the Hotel was strictly liable; but this has never been nor should be the law in Florida.

The Plaintiff went after the deep pocket of the Diplomat Hotel, by mixing and matching all types of product liability causes of action against the Defendants. The two main parties involved; the welder, who repaired the mast, and Atlantic Sailing, which had the mast repaired and rented the boat to the Plaintiff; received Directed Verdicts in their favor; which were affirmed on appeal. Amoroso v. Samuel Friedland Family Enterprises, 17 FLW D889 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 8, 1992), Rehearing Denied, 17 FLW D2348 (Fla. 4th DCA, October 14, 1992).

In reversing the other Directed Verdicts for the remaining Defendants, the Fourth District took it upon itself to adopt new law in Florida, imposing strict liability on all commercial lessors, in conflict with existing law from this Court. It later certified the case to this Court, for approval of its vast and unnecessary expansion of liability. Even if the Court does approve the Fourth District's new theories of liability, they do not apply to the Diplomat Hotel, which is in the business of renting rooms, not sailboats.

The trial court went to great lengths to allow the Plaintiff to prove up her claim against the Defendants, that she was injured by a "defective" Hobie Cat sailboat. However, after putting on her case-in-chief for a week, the Plaintiff simply established that an accident occurred and that her husband was negligent in his handling of the sailboat. The direct evidence presented by the Plaintiff was simply that Atlantic Sailing had a Hobie Cat with a side bar that had a crack in it. Atlantic Sailing took it to a professional welder, Rhodenbaugh, who repaired the aluminum side bar. Plaintiff's husband rented the same exact sailboat on three separate occasions, after it was repaired and he was aware of the repair. On the third occasion he executed what is known as an uncontrolled jibe; which is simply that the boat is brought around too quickly into the wind and the mast whips across the bow of the sailboat, putting stress on all the parts and the side bar cracked in a different spot. Mrs. Amoroso was allegedly injured, when the mast came loose as a result of the crack in the side bar and it fell into the water.

In her case-in-chief, Mrs. Amoroso presented expert testimony that instead of welding the side bar, the professional welder, who had been hired by and paid by Atlantic Sailing, should have told Atlantic Sailing to replace the side bar, instead of having it welded. No evidence was presented by the Plaintiff that the weld itself was improper or defective or that the weld caused the accident. Furthermore, it was undisputed that the crack in the side bar was not where the side bar had

been repaired. No evidence was presented on negligent maintenance. The bottom line to the Plaintiff's case-in-chief was that Rhodenbaugh, the professional welder, should have known to replace the side bar and that he should have told Atlantic, who should have told Sunrise, who should have told the Diplomat Hotel. Since none of those things happened the Plaintiff said all of the Defendants were liable.

Since the only negligence that was established in the Plaintiff's case-in-chief was that of Mr. Amoroso in his improper sailing of the boat, namely performing an uncontrolled jibe, which caused the extra stress on the side bar, Directed Verdicts were entered in favor of all the Defendants; half of which were reversed by the Fourth District.

# Specific Facts

Around 1981, Sunrise bought six sailboats from Portech, including two 14 foot Hobie Cats (T III, 102-105). Sunrise then entered into a lease with the Diplomat Hotel, allowing it to rent the Hobie Cats from a small shack on the Diplomat's beach property (T III, 102-105). The shack said Sunrise Water Sports, Inc. (T III, 102). Sunrise in turn subleased its beach site concession to Atlantic Sailing, which rented boats to anyone who was interested (T III, 136-139). Atlantic Sailing was a sublessee for approximately two years prior to Mrs. Amoroso's accident (T III, 117).

In the early part of July, 1983, two years after Sunrise bought the sailboats and subleased its concession to rent the

sailboats to Atlantic, one of the side bars on a 14 foot Hobie Cat became partially cracked. Atlantic Sailing took the six foot aluminum side bar to Rhodenbaugh, a professional welder, to have it fixed (T III, 50). Rhodenbaugh had previously repaired the Hobie Cats for Atlantic, but never did any work for Sunrise, the boat owner, nor the Diplomat Hotel (T III, 83-84). Rhodenbaugh never told Mr. Harrison of Atlantic Sailing to replace the crossbar (T III, 54). Rhodenbaugh felt it was a good strong weld (T III, 69).

Approximately ten days later, Mr. and Mrs. Amoroso arrived at the Diplomat Hotel for a Teamsters' Union Convention (T IV, 13). Apparently the Plaintiff's husband owned a ten foot Sunfish which he sailed on weekends on a lake near their home in New Hampshire (T III, 13-14; 219). Mr. Amoroso subsequently rented the 14 foot Hobie Cat from Jim Harrison of Atlantic Sailing and used it twice without any incident (T IV, 235, 237).

The Hobie Cat was a Tequila Sunrise model, containing the Hobie Cat colors and logo (T IV, 235). Mr. Harrison of Atlantic Sailing instructed Mr. Amoroso regarding the rules about staying within 300 yards off shore, not to come too close to shore; and if he felt uneasy or uncertain about going out on the Hobie Cat Mr. Harrison would go with him, but Amoroso felt that was not necessary (T IV, 143). Mr. Amoroso then inspected the boats, looked at the two fourteen foot Hobie Cats, picked out the welded spot on one and asked about it. Harrison told him that it had been repaired (T IV, 143-145). Harrison told Amoroso that he

could use the other 14 foot Hobie Cat, that had not been repaired, but Amoroso returned the following day specifically asking to rent that particular Hobie Cat (T IV, 145-146). Mr. Amoroso signed a contract for the rental of the boat with Atlantic Sailing (T IV, 147-150).

Amoroso and his wife went sailing for approximately an hour on the first day, after Mr. Amoroso refused to let Harrison take him for a test sail; since he was confident that he knew what he was doing (T IV, 152). Amoroso had no problem with the boat and a few days later Mr. Amoroso came down and rented the exact same boat again, because he felt good about it and had no problems with it (T IV, 153-154). This time Amoroso took out a friend, Muriel Hankcard, again sailing for approximately an hour (T IV, 257). Harrison observed Amoroso sailing and that he was not doing anything improper and seemed to know what he was doing (T IV, 156-157).

The third time Amoroso rented the exact same repaired boat from Atlantic Sailing. He again took out Mrs. Amoroso, who was quite nervous and hesitant, but he was insistent on her sailing with him (T IV, 34; 158). Harrison told Mr. Amoroso not to jibe the boat that day, as it was windier than before; because he did not want Mrs. Amoroso to get hit in the head with the boom swinging back and forth; and because she was a big woman (T IV, 159). After sailing out for a few minutes, apparently Amoroso began uncontrolled jibes, which caused the boom to whip around to the other side of the boat (which could not only hurt

someone, but could also cause rigging damage) (T IV, 171-172). During the time Amoroso was sailing the 14 foot catamaran the side bar cracked approximately an inch and a half away from the outside portion where it had been welded; which ultimately caused the mast to come loose and allegedly hit Mrs. Amoroso on her neck and shoulder, as she was lying down holding on to the mast with her right hand (T IV, 21-11). Mrs. Amoroso claimed that she put her hands over her head but still got hit on the neck and entangled in the wires and sail (T IV, 24).

After the boat drifted ashore, Amoroso came up to Harrison at the rental shack, told him everything was fine, but that his wife might have been hit in the head (T III, 146). Harrison responded that he saw the mast go down, but his wife was not anywhere near it and her head was not near it (T III, 146). Amoroso then stated that perhaps a wire touched her shoulder instead (T III, 146). Later on in the day, Amoroso came down with another gentleman to take photographs of the crossbar, stating it was possible that he could make some money out of this and the other gentleman responded that it was the Diplomat they should go for it (T III, 147). Amoroso then told Harrison of Atlantic, "Don't worry. We are not going after you, kid" (T III, 148).

Four years later Mrs. Amoroso filed a Complaint against an assortment of Defendants, including the Diplomat and Sunrise (R 759, 761). Mrs. Amoroso's Sixth Amended Complaint brought product liability actions against the Hotel for negligence,

breach of warranty and strict liability, claiming that the Hotel was liable because of the acts of its actual or apparent agents, Sunrise and Atlantic Sailing (R 1376-1413). Basically, Mrs.

Amoroso's Complaint alleged that the Hotel was negligent, through Sunrise and Atlantic for renting the Hobie Cat with a defective mast and by failing to inspect, maintain and repair the Hobie Cat and by failing to provide warnings of the defective mast to the Plaintiffs. Mr. Amoroso only brought a derivative claim for loss of consortium (R 1376-1413). Mrs. Amoroso's suit against the Diplomat for strict liability and breach of implied warranty claimed that the Hotel was liable through the acts of its agents, Sunrise and Atlantic Sailing (R 1376-1413).

After long and careful consideration by the trial court,
Directed Verdicts were entered in favor of all the Defendants, as
no evidence whatsoever was presented to support any of the counts
of the Complaint against the various Defendants (T IV, 2, 66-331;
DV 3-25 [R 47-72]).

On appeal, the Fourth District affirmed the Directed Verdicts against the renter of the sailboat, Atlantic Sailing; and the repairer of the sailboat, Rhodenbaugh. Amoroso, D890; D892. In affirming the Directed Verdict for the welder, the Appellate Court held that he had no duty to tell Atlantic, that hired him; that the crossbar should be replaced and not repaired. Amoroso, D890. However, in the opinion, the Court also found that the negligence count could go forward against the Diplomat and Sunrise; apparently, on the testimony of the welder, that the

repair could have weakened the crossbar, rendering it "defective." Amoroso, D889; D891-892.

More importantly, the Appellate Court held that the Hotel and the owner/renter of the six sailboats were "commercial lessors;" and could be liable under the theories of breach of implied warranty of merchantability and strict liability; just like manufacturers and retailers in products liability law.

Amoroso, D890-891.

The Defendants moved for Rehearing on the basis that these product liability theories had never been applied to a Hotel and owner of six sailboats, and it was not up to the Fourth District to adopt this new law. Rehearing was denied, but the Court certified the question regarding commercial lessors being held strictly liable. Amoroso, D2348. In his dissent, Judge Letts, agreed that any change in the law was up to this Court; but that regardless of what this Court adopted, these product liability theories were not meant to apply to the Diplomat Hotel. Amoroso, D2348-2349.

The Defendants petitioned this Court for review, as there is no legal or public policy reason to expand products liability law to all commercial lessors, to make them strictly liable; and no basis whatsoever to find that the Hotel and the owner/renter of six small sailboats are "commercial lessors," equivalent to manufacturers, retailers and sellers, as envisioned by the Restatement and standard Florida products liability law.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff conceded below that this was simply a negligence case, involving a broken sailboat mast. The Diplomat Hotel rented some beach area to Sunrise, who leased it to Atlantic Sailing, who rented a sailboat to the Plaintiff. The Fourth District held that the Hotel was strictly liable; but this has never been nor should be the law in Florida.

The reason that strict liability and products liability exists is to impose on the entity, who makes the product or puts it in the channels of trade, the cost of injuries or damages caused by those products. That is because those entities have the knowledge, ability, and resources to examine these products to ensure that they are safe, to design them safely, to inspect them, etc. Clearly, there is nothing in the Restatement or this Court's decision in West, which would impose on a hotel the duty to inspect or insure the safety of a small sailboat; rented by an entity, which simply rents beach property from the hotel. hold that every person or business that rents anything in Florida is a commercial lessor and therefore, subject to the doctrine of strict liability, serves no public policy purpose whatsoever. Parties like the Diplomat Hotel have no expertise in the inspection and repair of products like the rented sailboat; they use independent contractors like Rhodenbaugh. In contrast to the Diplomat, lessors like Ryder Truck Rental, or Hertz, which are mass dealers in chattels of a specific type, do have the financial ability, the technical ability, and the opportunity to

inspect the products that they lease to insure their safety. It is these commercial lessors that have been traditionally held liable under the doctrine of strict liability or breach of implied warranty. <u>Johnson</u>; <u>West</u>; <u>infra</u>.

It is important to remember that strict liability means negligence as a matter of law, or negligence per se; the effect of which is to remove the burden from the user of proving any specific acts of negligence. West, infra. To hold every person in Florida who rents any product to this high standard is an astronomical increase in liability in Florida, and certainly not one envisioned by this Court in its decision in West.

The decision in West makes it clear that it is the manufacturer or seller that is engaged in the business of selling such a product that is held to the standard of strict liability, because it is that entity which has control over the product and has the duty to see that it is reasonably safe; knowing that the product is going to be used without inspection. West, infra. Clearly, the Diplomat Hotel did not put any sailboats into the stream of commerce, did not manufacturer or design any sailboats, has no expertise in sailboats, would not be able to detect any defects in a sailboat, and is not a manufacturer or seller, retailer or distributor of sailboats. Furthermore, the fact that the Diplomat rented a small beach area to Sunrise, who subleased it to Atlantic, who rented a sailboat to the Plaintiff, does not in anyway shape or form render the Hotel a "commercial lessor" of sailboats, sufficient to impose any products liability upon the

Hotel.

It is respectfully submitted that the Fourth District's decision below must be reversed; that this Court hold that there is no extension of strict liability to every commercial lessor; or to limit such an imposition of strict liability to those businesses which are mass dealers in the product in question. Regardless of how this Court rules on the issue of strict liability and its application to commercial lessors, the opinion below still must be reversed; as the Diplomat Hotel and Sunrise do not fall into any category sufficient to find that either is a "commercial lessor" whose business falls within the distributive chain of small Hobie Cat boats or are mass dealers in small Hobie Cat boats. The Fourth District's opinion regarding the Petitioners in this case must be reversed and the Directed Verdicts affirmed in favor of the Diplomat and Sunrise.

The Fourth District held that the implied <u>Johnson</u> warranty of merchantability applied to fitness for ordinary use. While the court claimed that no public policy reason was given to limit this expansion of liability, it over looked the fact that before <u>Amoroso</u> no such common law implied warranty of fitness for ordinary use ever existed in any lease transaction. The public policy reason for not expanding the implied warranty in Florida is that this liability will put the ordinary small commercial lessor out of business; who from time to time rents lawnmowers, weed eaters, or even sailboats, and who must now guarantee/insure their use.

A critical factor in Mrs. Amoroso's case was that the evidence of negligence for failure to replace the crossbar went only to Rhodenbaugh, the independent contractor/welder. The Fourth District glossed over this to avoid the clear law that the Defendants were not liable for the negligence of an independent contractor. The court simply stated: "evidence was presented that there was negligence in failing to replace the crossbar."

Amoroso, D891. The Fourth District ignores the welder's status and held the hotel and boat owner liable. This bizarre result is even more anomalous, since the Directed Verdict in favor of the welder for no negligent repair and finding no duty to tell Atlantic to replace the crossbar was affirmed by the Fourth District. Amoroso, D892.

In the absence of any evidence of any negligence on the part of the Diplomat and Sunrise, the Directed Verdicts in their favor should have been affirmed.

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED A DIRECTED VERDICT ON MRS. AMOROSO'S CLAIM OF STRICT LIABILITY AGAINST THE DIPLOMAT AND SUNRISE.

This case is basically a negligence action, which both the Plaintiff and the Fourth District Court of Appeal have turned into a massive products liability morass. In doing so, the Fourth District has adopted two new theories of liability to be imposed against commercial lessors. It then went one step further and held that a hotel, whose business it is to rent rooms, was a "commercial lessor" of a small sailboat; and therefore, could be held strictly liable, and liable for breach of implied warranty of merchantability. This has never been the law in Florida, nor should it be; since there is absolutely no legal or public policy reason to adopt and apply these vast new theories of liability to every commercial lease transaction in the State. This would mean that every small business which rents a lawnmower, weed eater, etc., would be strictly liable for those The end result of this is that all these mom and pop companies will be out of business in no time; which is why strict liability has always been limited, when applied, to mass dealers in chattels.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to adopt the two new theories, as applied to commercial lessors, the Diplomat and Sunrise simply do not fit into those categories, and therefore the Directed Verdicts on these counts must be affirmed in their favor.

The Diplomat Hotel rented an area of its beach to Sunrise.

Sunrise had a little shack on this area of the beach that said

Sunrise Water Sports, Inc. Sunrise in turn subleased the shack
to Atlantic Sailing, who was in charge of renting six small Hobie

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