087
34
19
53

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 80,786

Florida Bar No.: 182928

SAMUEL FRIEDLAND FAMILY
ENTERPRISES d/b/a THE DIPLOMAT
HOTEL, INC., DIPLOMAT HOTEL,
INC., BILL'S SUNRISE BOAT
RENTALS-SUNRISE WATER SPORTS,
INC., SUNRISE WATER SPORTS, INC.,
WILLIAM THORLA, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

PAULA AMOROSO and ROBERT
AMOROSO, her husband,

Respondents.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 5 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENTS,
PAULA AMOROSO and ROBERT AMOROSO

BY: C. ROBERT MURRAY, JR.
CANNING, MURRAY & PELTZ, P.A.
Trenton Building, Suite 300
8300 N.W. 53rd Street

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case on the strict liability issue does not represent any extension of the existing law in the State of Florida, but rather a common sense application of that law. Alternatively, if it is an extension of law in the State of Florida to apply strict liability in tort principles to injuries arising to lessees, then given the commercial climate which exists in the State today, as well as the expectations of the public, such an extension is both logical and required. To not grant to the public the protection afforded by holding lessors of products strictly liable in tort for the harm that their goods may cause is to unduly enhance the importance of the type of transaction and to greatly reduce the protection afforded the public.

Likewise, breach of implied warranties of fitness for ordinary use should be available to citizens of the State of Florida and others injured by products within the State put into the stream of commerce by lessors. There is no rational reason to exclude this type of protection from the public because such warranties may effect small businesses. Where a lessor is not involved in a simply isolated transaction but rather, as its sole business or as a part of its other businesses engages in regular lease transactions with the public, that lessor has placed a product in the chain of commerce and should be responsible for any injury the product may cause.

There was ample proof of negligence of the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE in this case allowed into evidence at the trial below. There was evidence that established that the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE may have been principals of ATLANTIC, the company which rented the sailboat to the AMOROSOS. There was also evidence which would allow the jury to find that ATLANTIC was negligent in repairing the sailboat cross bar instead of replacing it. There was also evidence that established that ATLANTIC took no steps to inspect or otherwise maintain the hobie cats other than to tighten certain parts of the sailboats it rented which might become loose during their use by guests of the DIPLOMAT HOTEL. ATLANTIC, and based upon principals of agency, THE DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE, cannot escape liability for the harm they caused by deliberately keeping themselves ignorant of what is required in properly maintaining and inspecting sailboats. Once the decision is made by them to go into that business they bear the responsibility of learning what is necessary to inspect and properly maintain the sailboats in order to protect the general public who will be using those boats without inspection for defects.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in all respects and its opinion should be affirmed by this Court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I:

The trial court incorrectly entered a directed verdict on Mrs. Amoroso's claim of strict liability against the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE and the Fourth District Court of Appeal's reversal of that directed verdict was correct.

The protestations of the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE notwithstanding, this case was appropriate for the application of the doctrine of strict liability in tort and the trial court should not have directed a verdict against the AMOROSOS on this claim.

This Court adopted strict liability as stated in the A.L.I. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402 A in *West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., Inc.*, 336 So.2d 80, 87 (Fla. 1976). The *West* decision was a decision involving a claimed defect of a grader as a result of its manufacture with certain alleged design defects. In responding to the certificate from the United States Court of Appeal for the Fifth Circuit, this Court stated, *inter alia*, that part of the justification for the doctrine of strict liability was that where a manufacturer places on the market a potentially dangerous product for use and consumption and advertises that product, thereby encouraging its use, the manufacturer as a result of those acts undertakes "a certain and special responsibility toward the consuming public who may be injured by it". 336 So.2d at 86. This Court went on to note that the prior decisions of this Court were in conformity with the principal set forth in the Restatement, and that its recognition of the Restatement, § 402 A was "no great new departure from present law". *Id.*

In this case, the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE seek to have this Court carve out an exception for lessors of a product, notwithstanding the fact that that product causes injury to the ultimate consumer. There is simply no rational basis for such an exception and the Fourth District noted same when it cited with approval *North Miami General Hospital, Inc. v. Goldberg*, 520 So.2d 650 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) which stated that the public policy underlining the doctrine of strict liability in other consumer contexts was that:

[T]hose who profit from the sale or distribution of a particular product to the public, rather than an innocent person injured by it, should bear the financial burden of even an undetectable product defect. The rationale of the doctrine thus inherently requires a defendant which is in a business within the product's distributive chain. (Emphasis added)

The Fourth District also noted that in *Futch v. Ryder Truck Rental, Inc.*, 391 So.2d 810 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) the court applied strict liability to a commercial lessor.

Decisions from other states have reached the same conclusion with regard to the lease of a product. For example, as early as 1965, the Supreme Court of New Jersey held in a breach of warranty action (a complement to the theory of strict liability, see *West*, supra, 336 So.2d at 884) that as between a bailor and a bailee for hire of a vehicle under a "U-drive-it" agreement, liability for flaws or defects in the vehicle not discoverable by ordinary care in inspecting or testing that vehicle rested with the bailor, just as it rested with the manufacturer. See, *Cintrone v. Hertz Truck Leasing & Rental Service*, 212 A.2d 769, 777 - 778 (N.J. 1965). Likewise, in *Brimbau v. Ausdale Equipment Rental Corporation*, 448

A.2d 1292 (R.I. 1982), the Court held that persons in the business of leasing personal property are strictly liable in tort for injuries proximately resulting from the products that they lease in a defective condition which renders the property dangerous. *Id.* at 1298.

In *Coleman v. Hertz Corp.*, 534 P.2d 940 (Ok.Ct.App. 1975) the court held that strict liability included lessors and bailors engaged in the business of leasing chattels to the public where no sale was involved. The Oklahoma Supreme Court later cited *Coleman* with approval, in *Dewberry v. LaFollette*, 598 P.2d 241 (Ok. 1979) and further noted "the evident trend of other jurisdictions is to expand the concept of strict liability to include commercial lessors on the basis such persons put products into the stream of commerce in a fashion not unlike a manufacturer or retailer. *Id.* at 242. (Citations omitted).

The Texas Supreme Court reached the same conclusion in *Rourke v. Garza*, 530 S.W.2d 794 (Tex. 1975). That action involving suit by a welder against a rental company for injuries sustained by the welder in a fall from allegedly dangerous scaffolding which had been supplied by a rental company to the welder's employer, resulted in judgment in favor of the welder. On appeal, the Texas Supreme Court first noted that the rental company contended that the theory of strict liability should not be applicable to the leasing of equipment to an industrial user as distinguished from a sale of equipment. The Court addressed that statement as follows:

We can see no sound basis for this distinction.
Where one is engaged in the business of

introducing products into the channels of commerce, he will be subject to strict liability for physical harm caused by such products if they are unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer whether he sells or leases his products.

Id. at 800. (Citations omitted).

Likewise, in *Price v. Shell Oil Co.*, 466 P.2d 722 (Cal. 1970) the California Supreme Court, in an action brought by a mechanic employed by an airline who sued the lessor of a gasoline tank truck for injuries he received when a ladder broke and he fell, held that a non-seller of a product such as a bailor or a lessor, was liable. The court stated the philosophy underlining the purpose of imposing strict liability as:

[T]o insure that the cost of injuries resulting from defective products are borne by the manufacturers that put such products on the market rather than by the injured persons who are powerless to protect themselves.

Id. at 725, citing *Greenman v. Yuba Power Products, Inc.*, 377 P.2d 897 (Cal. 1963).

The Court went on to state:

Essentially its paramount policy to be promoted by the rule is the protection of otherwise defenseless victims of manufacturing defects and the spreading throughout society of the cost of compensating them....Similarly we can perceive no substantial difference between *sellers* of personal property and *non-sellers*, such as bailors and lessors. In each instance, the seller or non-seller "places [an article] on the market, knowing that it is to be used without inspection for defects," (*Greenman, supra*, 59 Cal.2d at p. 62, 27 Cal. Rptr. at p. 700, 377 P.2d at p. 900) In the light of the policy to be subserved, it should make no difference that the party distributing the article has retained title to it nor can we see how the risk of harm associated with the use of the chattel can vary with the legal form under which it is held.

Having in mind the market realities and the widespread use of the lease of personalty in today's business world, we think it makes good sense to impose on the lessors of chattels the same liability for physical harm which has been imposed on the manufacturers and retailers. The former, like the latter, are able to bear the cost of compensating for injuries resulting from defects by spreading the loss through an adjustment of the rental.

Id. at 725 - 726. (Emphasis in the decision)

An Indiana court of appeals also reached the same result, concluding that "[A] sale is not necessarily an element required to establish liability under § 402 A ([Restatement 2d] of Torts]. The words 'sells' as contained in the text of § 402 A is merely descriptive, and the product need not be actually sold if it has been injected into the stream of commerce by other means. The test is not the sale, but rather the placing in commerce". *Link v. Sun Oil Co.*, 312 N.E.2d 126, 130 (Ind.Ct.App. 1974).

The decision of the Fourth District below recognizes the commercial realities of today's marketplace. Also, notwithstanding the fact that the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE believe the Fourth District's decision to be an unwarranted extension of the doctrine of strict liability in Florida, it is not, as the citations by the Court to *Futch v. Ryder Truck Rental, Inc.*, 391 So.2d 810 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) and *North Miami General Hospital*, 520 So.2d 650 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) amply indicate.

Petitioners also argue that there should be a retreat from this "expansion" of the doctrine of strict liability because "this would mean that every small business which rents a lawnmower, weed eater, etc., would be strictly liable for those products. The end

result of this is that all these mom and pop companies will be out of business in no time; which is why strict liability has always been limited, when applied, to mass dealers in chattels". (Brief of Petitioners at p. 14).

Respectfully, there is no basis for the argument on this point made by SUNRISE and the DIPLOMAT. There is no rational reason to carve out an exception in the area of leasing a chattel based upon this "perceived" harm. In addition, research has disclosed no case which has held that strict liability is limited to mass dealers in chattels because of a fear of eliminating "mom and pop companies". Respondents' cite no authority for this broad statement and, indeed there can be none.

The Petitioners then go on to argue that even if strict liability should be applied in a commercial leasing context, because the DIPLOMAT is not a "retailer in this case" and "is not higher up in the distributive chain of the sailboat" [and presumably the same also holds true of SUNRISE although the Brief does not make it clear that the same argument is being made on behalf of SUNRISE. (See, Brief of Respondents, pp. 23 - 29)] then there can be no liability to the AMOROSOS. How the DIPLOMAT can make this argument with a straight face is beyond ken. The record below indicated that the DIPLOMAT entered into a lease for a sailboat rental facility with SUNRISE, which in turn entered into a lease, agreed to by the DIPLOMAT, with ATLANTIC. The record further established that the brochure which resulted in the AMOROSOS' interest in sailboat rental was a DIPLOMAT brochure

placed in the AMOROSOS' room, and that the DIPLOMAT enabled the AMOROSOS to make arrangements for the rental through the hotel telephone system and to charge the boat rental on their hotel room. Finally, the DIPLOMAT allowed its guests to use as security for the rental of the boat, the DIPLOMAT HOTEL room key. In short, the DIPLOMAT was involved in every part of the promotion of the rental of this transaction; it advertised the product; it enabled the product to be offered to its guests through its lease of the beach space to SUNRISE; it made it possible for its guests to rent the boats, billing their hotel room for such rental and further, to secure the rental of the boat, allowed their guests to leave their room key as security. Respectfully, once the DIPLOMAT injected itself to this degree into the rental process it becomes just as significant a part of the chain of distribution as if it were a lessor and it should bear responsibility for the injury to Mrs. Amoroso.

Finally, Petitioners argue that establishment of this "new cause of action" is best left to the legislature. (Brief of Petitioners at p. 30). The Amorosos do not believe that this is a "new cause of action". The analysis undertaken by this Court in *West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., Inc., supra*, 336 So.2d at 86 ("such a recognition by the Court is no great new departure from present law and, in most instances, accomplishes a change of nomenclature"), is true in this case. The Fourth District's analysis of the requisite authority justifies the decision reached and should be upheld by this Court.

ISSUE II:

The trial court erred when it directed a verdict on Plaintiff's claim of breach of implied warranty. The Fourth District was correct in overruling the trial court's directed verdict and in holding that breach of implied warranty of fitness for ordinary use is an available cause of action in a lease transaction in Florida.

Much of the argument made in connection with the issue of strict liability applies with equal force to the argument under this heading.

The additions to the Petitioners' Statement of Facts, *supra*, clearly show the involvement of the DIPLOMAT in the lease transaction involving the AMOROSOS. Indeed, if the DIPLOMAT had not made the land for the sailboat rental available, there could have been no sailboat rental at all and just as clearly, the aim of the agreement between the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE was to provide services to the DIPLOMAT's guests and to keep them happy through the rental of boats. (Tr. day 3, pp. 97, 99 - 100). Indeed, there was testimony that the DIPLOMAT's staff was to keep an eye over the business. *Id.* Further, the record below clearly established that the DIPLOMAT placed in the AMOROSOS' room a brochure which encouraged them to rent sailboats, and that the DIPLOMAT supplied a telephone, its switchboard service and the line from the hotel to the shanty where the rental took place. (Tr. day 3, p. 108). Also, the DIPLOMAT made it possible for its guests to bill the cost of the boat rental to their room with the monies to be collected by the DIPLOMAT when the room bill was paid. Finally, the DIPLOMAT's guests were allowed to use their DIPLOMAT room key as security for

a sailboat when they rented same. (Tr. day 4, pp. 14, 231). In addition, as previously noted the DIPLOMAT and SUNRISE had a written agreement which set forth the arrangement between the parties concerning the division of the rentals in excess of a stated amount and further the DIPLOMAT agreed to the sublease between SUNRISE and ATLANTIC (Tr. day 3, p. 134). Just as clearly, SUNRISE owned the hobie cats in question, and in turn subleased them under some arrangement to ATLANTIC. This has been conceded by the Petitioners in their brief at page 4.

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